1982

State of Utah v. Ronald Dale Easthope : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendants adopt Plaintiff's statement as to the nature of the case, disposition by the Industrial Commission, and their relief sought on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The deceased was killed in an automobile collision on a Utah highway on March 22, 1980, while traveling toward his home in Ogden, Utah, after attending the 1980 Governor's Ball held at Salt Lake City, Utah. At the time of his death he was 38 years old, his wife, who died in the same accident, was 35 years old. They were the parents of two minor dependent children, ages 8 and 10, for whose benefit this application

was filed before the Industrial commission.

The deceased at the time in question, and for approximately nine months prior thereto, had been the managing editor of the Ogden Standard Examiner newspaper.

He and his wife had been invited to attend the Governor's Ball by Mrs. Wilda Jean Hatch, president of the Standard Corporation, which corporation owns the Ogden Standard Examiner (R. 238-239). The Cheney's had driven their own automobile to the Hatches' residence in Salt Lake City, and after some social cordialities went to the ball with Mr. George Hatch, Mrs. Wilda Jean Hatch, and Randall Hatch (their son, also an employee of the Ogden Standard Examiner) and his wife. After the ball the three couples returned to the Hatches' residence, spent another short period and then the deceased, with his wife, commenced their fatal journey toward Ogden.

The Governor's Ball is primarily a fund raising event (R. 157) and is principally attended by business, labor and community leaders, and is generally attended by those people in order to further business interests (R. 158, 159, 160, 164, 170, 172). It is an activity in which business leaders particularly attend to "see and be seen" (R. 159, 172). Attendance is seldom viewed as a social activity (R. 174).

Those for whom a table was arranged and tickets supplied were exclusively managers of the various businesses owned by the Hatches (R. 248). Clifford Cheney, as managing editor

of the Ogden Standard Examiner, had no particular political alignment or preferences (R. 178, 194), nor was Cheney particularly an outgoing or social type of individual (R. 177-178). He was nevertheless described as a dedicated business and newspaper man (R. 180, 185, 194). Just prior to the night in question he had been heavily engaged in preparation of an anticipated publication of a certain newspaper article which, because of its sensitive matter, had recently fallen under criticism of management on a higher level than himself (R. 189, 195, 210). The major stated purposes for attendance at the ball by the deceased was for the purpose of rubbing shoulders with the "big wigs" and because management wanted him to (R. 187). The very last conversation prior to his leaving for the ball was with two reporters for the Ogden Standard Examiner who were working with him on the above mentioned article and that he was going to the ball in hopes for a chance to encourage acceptance by the Hatches of the disputed article (R. 197, 199, 200, 201, 203, 204).

During the week prior to his death, the deceased had visiting with him and his wife in their home, Mrs. Cheney's sister and her husband, Pam and Steve Skelton from Eugene, Oregon (R. 205). Despite the fact that the visit was an annual affair and the couple had a close relationship, the deceased was unable to spend much time with the visitors because of the pressures of work and specifically the completion of the

article in question (R. 198, 200, 201, 202, 210). The night of the ball was also the last night of the Skeltons' visit, and the deceased told his wife that he would attend the ball whether she did or not (R. 212).

It appeared from the testimony that it was exceedingly important for him to attend in order to spend time with the Hatches, the owners of the newspaper (R. 217). The deceased stated prior to his death that he felt the ball offered an opportunity to discuss and clarify with the Hatches newspaper policy (R. 217, 228). Prior to attendance at the ball, he rented a tuxedo for the occasion, which rental cost he considered a business expense (R. 218). He expressed to the Skeltons on the night of his death that he needed to discuss the paper and policy with the Hatches and get an understanding of their philosophies and policies on the content and other positions on editorial contents of the paper and publications of the article in question (R. 149, 229).

The general manager of the Ogden Standard Examiner and the deceased's immediate supervisor was Mr. Jack Banks (R. 272, 283). It was he who had taken charge of the affairs of the family and funeral arrangements the morning after the deaths, and it was he, as he testified, who would be involved in insurance claims and the like concerning the paper and its employees (R. 235, 272, 283). At the home of the deceased the day after the accident, when told by the decedent's father that he, the decedent's father, felt the accident

arose out of a business trip, Banks replied that he did not see a problem with that and "that the paper's insurance should cover it" (R. 234).

The Hatches, who invited the Cheneys to the event, are in their 60's. They testified that in their mind the occasion was a social event wherein they invited the Cheneys and their son and his wife in order that they may get better acquainted.

The invitation extended to the Cheneys was made by Mrs. Hatch at the office of the Ogden Standard Examiner. Testimony of the Hatches stresses that at the ball and during the visits at the Hatch home, business was neither discussed nor conducted (R. 246, 261, 276).

ARGUMENT

I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S FINDINGS OF FACT FULLY SUPPORT ITS LEGAL CONCLUSION THAT CLIFFORD CHENEY'S DEATH AROSE OUT OF HIS EMPLOYMENT.

As early as 1936 in the case of Jones v. Industrial Commission, 90 Utah 121, 61 P.2d 10 (1936), as cited by the Plaintiffs, this Court held in reviewing an order of the Industrial Commission it will examine the findings of fact by the Commission in light of the issue of law raised by the claim in order to determine whether such an award is supported by the findings.

The Court is to review the evidence in the light most favorable to the Commission's findings (Entwistle Company

v. Wilkins, 626 P.2d 495 (Utah 1981), and cases cited therein) and support the Commission's findings unless clearly arbitrary or capricious (Kavalinakis v. Industrial Commission, 67 Utah 174, 246 P. 698 (1926)).

Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-45 (1953) provides that the dependents of an employee "who [is] killed by an accident arising out of or in the course of his employment" are entitled to workmen's compensation benefits. Whether Clifford P. Cheney died as a result of "an accident arising out of or in the course of his employment. . ." depends on the particular circumstance of the case, Kinne v. Industrial Commission, 609 P.2d 926 (1980). Although there existed no written job description, it may well be agreed that the customary place of decedent's employment was the newspaper office. A newsman, however, would be well expected to be found on job elsewhere and certainly a managing editor would be expected to carry on the affairs of his office wherever necessary and opportune. Certainly the essential thing is that there be some substantial relationship between the activity engaged in and the carrying on of the employer's business, Askren v. Industrial Commission, 15 Utah 2d 275, 391 P.2d 302 (1964).

As argued by the Plaintiff, in a case where an employee whose place and hours at work are fixed, it is usually not difficult to ascertain whether an accident arises out of or in the course of his employment. The more difficult questions are presented when there exists no written job description

and where the time and work are flexible, as in this case. An employee even away from the customary and regular place of employment and duties thereof may nevertheless be covered by workmen's compensation insurance. Those situations arise when an employee is upon the special mission of the employer and the generally accepted rule remains that:

That an injury sustained by an employee, either on his employer's or his own time, arises out of his employment if the employee is injured while on a mission for his employer.

Wilson v. Industrial Commission, 116 Utah 46, 207 P.2d 1116 (1949). This Court has adopted the concept that what is and what is not a special mission for the employer may depend upon the characterization of the employee's duties and those obligations which naturally flow from its work. In the case of Hafers, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 526 P.2d 1188 (1974), this Court stated:

The scope of one's employment includes not only those things which are direct and primary duties of the assigned job; but also those things which are reasonably necessary and incidental thereof.

The Plaintiff in its brief cited extensively from Professor Arthur Larson in his treatise, Workmen's Compensation Law, hereinafter referred to as "Larson." Larson is recognized as the leading authority in this field and the Defendant takes no exception to the references cited therein by Plaintiff, except that as to their interpretation of paragraph 3 of Larson's statement in Volume 1A, § 22, page 5, Point 41.

The employer need not derive some substantial benefit directly from the activity but the intent must be that some benefit be derived. It is certainly feasible that in any employment situation an employee could be sent on an errand, the result of which would be futile, but the benefit nevertheless was intended and therefore the activity would be considered within the scope of the employment. Such a test has been adopted by the Utah Court in the case of Martinson v. W. M. Insurance Agency, 606 P.2d 256 (1980). Although the decision in that case held against the applicant on a combined business and social function, the facts can easily be distinguished from this case. The law, however, lies in favor of this applicant. This Court, after discussion of the applicable law (and with which this applicant has no quarrel) concluded that the main reason for the trip to Park City in that case was for pleasure and that the applicant did not go to Park City for the primary purpose of conducting business, nor was there anything to be done at Park City that could not be done over the telephone and without leaving his office in Salt Lake City, and essentially that the applicant went there only because he wanted to and not necessarily to further the interests of the employer. That case is substantially different from this one on the facts and it is certainly understandable why this Court held as it did.

In this case, however, Cheney's primary motivation in attending the ball was far from social. The argument on

pages 10 and 11 of the Plaintiff's brief relative to social activities, parties, games, etc. as discussed in Larson have very little, if any applicability in this case, nor has this Court expressly adopted Larson "test" of compensability of accidents which arise out of social events.

The Plaintiff further cites the cases of Prouse v. Industrial Commission, 610 P.2d 1362 (1980), and Lundberg v. Cream O Weber Dairy Farms, 24 Utah 2d 16, 465 P.2d 175 (1970), neither of which cases hold any relationship to the case at issue. In the first case the Court denied the same on the basis that workmen's compensation coverage only provides coverage for those activities in which an employee is reasonably required to engage in the performance of his duties and which directly and intangibly benefit his employer. In that case, of course, horseplay did not. In the latter case, the Court specifically found that the deceased was in travel to and from work and, of course, this Court, and many others, has held that such an activity does not in and of itself qualify. The specific exception to that rule, however, is where the employee is engaged in a special mission or activity. Cudahay Packing Company v. Industrial Commission, 60 Utah 161, 207 P.2d 148 (1922).

The Plaintiffs also cite the case of Wilson v. Industrial Commission, supra, in contending that the law therein applies to this case. We readily agree. The facts, of course, in that case are substantially different; nevertheless, the

principle of law is still applicable and accepted by the Defendant.

This is not a case raising issues of law. It is a case of facts. The law is well established that there is a special omission exception to the travel to and from work, and this Court is simply called upon to determine whether there is a substantial relationship between the activity engaged in, i.e., the special errand or mission and the carrying on the employer's business.

This case, however, turns on one additional and extremely important fact, and that is that the deceased was in a managerial position and as such made his own decisions as to what he should do and what he should not do in furtherance of the employer's business, and he had fully in mind the intention of furthering said employer's business in using the Governor's Ball for such an opportunity.

In this regard, it should be understood at the outset that the Defendants have no argument with the established law in the State of Utah, and their position is simply that the facts of this case fall well within the established law, and as determined by the Industrial Commission, is fully compensable.

In this analysis, it is instructive to review the function and purpose of the Governor's Ball, the factors relating to the deceased's attendance thereto, and the purpose for the same.

The tickets were purchased by the Hatches and held only by managers of the Hatches' businesses. The two persons invited to attend were the managing editor and the promotion director of the Ogden Standard Examiner. The difference in ages between the Hatches and the Cheneys was almost 30 years (Tr. 122.17-123.60), the invitation thereto was made on the job by an officer of the Ogden Standard Examiner.

Two entirely unattached and presumably entirely unbiased witnesses, Maggie Wilde, the Governor's former press secretary, and Kent Briggs, the executive assistant to the Governor, are probably as highly qualified persons as can be found to testify relative to the Governor's Ball and those who generally attend. Each testified that business people attend to further business interests, that the ball is generally a fund-raising event attended by business, labor and community leaders where they can see and be seen and who go there to have doors opened to them in the business world and for their business interests. The apparent major reasons that people have for attending the Governor's Ball are political and business. But it should be remembered that Cheney is described as having no political alignment and was essentially apolitical. It can be safely concluded that he did not attend for political reasons. The fact that the tickets were held and a table reserved only for managers of the Hatches' companies is even more significant, and is the plethora of testimony as to the deceased's uttered intentions

for attending the ball.

It is undisputed that the deceased intended on attending the Governor's Ball that night specifically for the purpose of rubbing elbows with the big wigs and because management wanted him to (Tr. 39:5-12). Even more importantly, the event was an opportunity for him to discuss with the owners of the paper management policies relating specifically to the article in question. Even his very last conversation with the two reporters who were working with him on the article was that he was going to the ball in hopes for a chance to encourage acceptance by the Hatches of his disputed article. So important did this seem that he denied himself, with or without his wife, the opportunity of further visiting with family friends in order to attend the ball.

It is difficult to construe that such a decision would turn only on social reasons. It was stated emphatically that it was extremely important for him to go and spend time with the Hatches, the owners of the paper. Cheney felt the ball offered the opportunity to discuss and clarify policy. Even the tuxedo rental was considered by him as a business expense. He was unequivocal the night before his death in stating that he needed to discuss the paper with the Hatches to gain an understanding of their philosophies and policies on content and other positions of editorial matters of the paper, and that the ball would present that opportunity. Even Jack Banks, the general manager of the Ogden Standard

Examiner, apparently considered the Cheneys' attendance at the ball to be business related. Such, of course, would not be the case had he considered it only to be a social event.

It is clear that in the mind of the employee that he as manager would attend the Governor's Ball in order to further the interests of his employer by discussing the publication of the article and gaining an understanding as to their editorial policies. An analysis of the facts of this case can lead to no other conclusion but that the deceased intended on accepting the invitation to the Governor's Ball by his employer for reasons directly related to the interests of that employer and to the benefit of the newspaper. For the Plaintiffs to argue that the same was only a social event and therefore not compensable ignores really all essential facts in question.

There can only be one conclusion drawn from the Commission's findings and the evidence presented, and that is that Clifford Cheney considered attendance at that event to be within the course of his employment, necessary for his employment, and an intrical part thereof, and that the employer's business would be conducted and furthered by attendance thereat. Plaintiffs seem to rely heavily on the point that no conversation occurred relative to business purposes. It should be noted, however, that whether any were engaged in is not the test. The test is rather whether the employee was there with the intention and capability of conducting business of the

employer. There can be no other conclusion drawn than that is the exact reason he was there and the only reason he attended.

II

THE COMMISSION'S CONCLUSION THAT THE DECEASED'S DEATH AROSE OUT OF HIS EMPLOYMENT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The Plaintiff raises in its Point II of argument that the deceased attended the Governor's Ball at the request of the Hatches and that such a request was social in nature. Despite the fact the Hatches testified that in their mind this was no more than a social invitation and this is hardly the only inquiry which need be made in this case. The Plaintiff appears mesmerized over the apparent three prong test of Professor Larson in that this was a social event, though not sponsored by the Ogden Standard Examiner, that Cheney's attendance was not specifically required, and the tickets were not purchased or paid for by the employer, nor that any claim was made that it was an employee benefit to which Mr. Cheney was entitled. None of these factors are important in a question to be decided.

What is important are the reasons that Cheney attended. It must be noted from the outset that the event in question was not a social arrangement, as the Defendant would have the Court believe. The tickets were not purchased by social friends, but by the heads of the Hatches' several businesses. And although Mrs. Hatch did testify that she had no business

purpose in mind in inviting the deceased to the ball, it is apparent that other considerations were in the mind of the deceased when he accepted the invitation. The tone of interchange as argued by the Plaintiff between Cheney and Mrs. Hatch is not determinative as to the purpose for his attending. Nor the fact that he needed to check with his wife, as he told his wife that he would attend whether she did or not. With respect to supervisory personnel and any conduct on their part making it mandatory for Cheney to attend, it must be remembered that he in fact was supervisory personnel, that he determined when and where he should go for the benefit of the paper. Nor does the fact that Cheney had any public relations responsibilities make any difference in this case. It has been the applicant's position all along that he did not attend for public relations nor as a social event, but in order to discuss a pertinent article and publication thereof, together with editorial policy, with the Hatches. It is helpful, however, to note that the Hatches presented Mr. Cheney to dignitaries such as Congressman Gunn McKay and Mayor Steve Dirks (R. 262, 280). The Hatches and Cheneys, because of the substantial difference in age, were not particularly social friends (R. 254, 269) nor was there any testimony that was the case, and no other viable explanation by the Hatches given for the invitation to be extended that night except that it was a result and in connection with and for business purposes.

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