1982

Ogden Standard Examiner and State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

Larson examines a range of conduct on the part of an employer

which might bring social or recreational activity within the course of employment by him. If an employer makes attendance at social affairs a part of an employee's job description, or if an employer actually requires an employee's attendance at a given event, its relation to the course of his employment is clear. When the employer's involvement with the social event is less, the question is closer, however.

When the degree of employer involvement descends from compulsion to mere sponsorship or encouragement, the questions become closer, and it becomes necessary to consult a series of tests bearing on work-connection. The most prolific illustrations of this problem are company picnics and office parties. Among the questions to be asked are: Did the employer in fact sponsor the event? To what extent was attendance really voluntary? Was there some degree of encouragement to attend in such factors as taking a record of attendance, paying for the time spent, requiring the employee to work if he did not attend, or maintaining a known custom of attending? Did the employer finance the occasion to a substantial extent? Did the employees regard it as an employment benefit to which they were entitled as of right? Did the employer benefit from the event, not merely in a vague way through better morale and good will, but through such tangible advantages as having an opportunity to make speeches and awards?

1A Larson, supra, Sec. 22.23, p. 5-85.

When the degree of employee involvement in sponsoring or promoting an event is minimal, courts may, in Larson's view, properly inquire whether the employer derived sufficient direct benefit from an employee's attendance to make it effectively a service to his employer. As examples of such benefits, Larson cites cases where compensation was awarded because of the en-

hancement of sales which a businessmen's entertainment of customers is expected to produce, the advertising benefit which may result from a company softball team, or the opportunity of which an employer may avail himself at a social event to present awards or make speeches. 1A Larson, supra, 22.30.

Larson emphasizes, however, that less tangible benefits to an employer from an employee's social activities such as improved relations, better morale, or increased efficiency have been found insufficient to bring an activity within the coverage of compensation acts. The problem, Larson notes,

is not that such benefits do not result,
but that they result from every game the
employee plays whether connected with his
work or not. . .

* * *

And so, just as in the sleeping and eating cases some arbitrary time and space limitations must circumscribe the area within which the "benefit" establishes work-connection, the recreation cases must submit to some similar limitation, since otherwise there is no stopping point which can be defined short of complete coverage of all employee's refreshing social and recreational activities. It can be taken as the majority view that these morale and efficiency benefits are not alone enough to bring recreation within the course of employment.

1A Larson, supra, Sec. 22.30 at Pp. 5-116-117.

This Court has not had occasion to adopt expressly the Larson test of the compensability of accidents which arise out of participation in a social event. The Court has, however, relied on Professor Larson's analysis of other course of employment issues as with injuries arising out of horseplay,

e.g., Prows v. Industrial Commission, 610 P.2d 1362 (1980).

Furthermore, a review of Utah decisions discloses a strict adherence to the principle that the course of employment includes only those activities in which an employee is reasonably required to engage in the performance of his duties, and which directly and tangibly benefit his employer.

In the case of Lundberg v. Cream O'Weber Dairy Farms, 24 Utah 2d 16, 465 P.2d 175 (1970), the Industrial Commission denied benefits to the widow of a sales manager who died in an automobile accident while driving home from a special sales meeting held before normal working hours. The court affirmed the denial, holding that the case fell within the rule that an employee is not acting in the course of his employment when he drives to or from work.

It is true that the statute does not require that a compensable accident be at any particular place and that Workmen's Compensation coverage has been approved in certain cases even though the employee had not arrived at the place of employment.

* * *

Notwithstanding what has been said in those cases, it is fundamental that even though the employee may not be at a regular place of work, he must be performing a duty for his employer, or one which is so connected with his employment as to be an essential part thereof, so that the mandate of the statute is met that there must be an "accident arising out of or in the course of employment." (emphasis supplied)

465 P.2d at 176.

It was noted that the general rule in Utah and in other jurisdictions is that injuries sustained while an employee is

going to or coming from work are not compensable. See also: Barney v. Industrial Commission, 29 U.2d 179, 506 P.2d 1271 (1973); Roberts v. Industrial Commission, 87 Utah 10, 47 P.2d 1052 (1935). Exceptions to the general rule have been allowed when an employer furnishes transportation to and from work, or when a route which is an employee's sole access to his place of work contains a hazard that is peculiar to that route, e.g. Cudahay Packing Co. v. Industrial Commission, 60 Utah 161, 207 Pac. 148 (1922). The applicant relied instead on another exception, contending that her husband was engaged in a "special mission" for his employer when he drove to the early morning sales meeting. Similarly, Professor Larson notes that when accidents which occur while driving to or from a social event are found to be compensable it is because the social event itself is found to be one which the usual test brings within the course of employment, so that the trip to attend it is a "special mission."1A Larson, supra, Sec. 22.23 p. 5-100, note 70.

This Court has analyzed "special mission" claims by the same criteria which apply to other course of employment issues. In the case of Wilson v. Industrial Commission, 116 Utah 46, 207 P.2d 1116 (1949), the court reversed an award of benefits to dependents of an employee who was killed on a trip from his home in Salt Lake City to a shop in Magna to repair a car for his employer, a used car dealer and auto repairman. The applicants contended that the deceased had been sent specially to Magna to perform that task. The employer contended that he had not directed the deceased to make a special trip for that purpose but

had merely informed him that he would be required to make the repairs after he arrived at work. The court stated the basis of its holding as follows:

The employer's instructions in this instance merely directed the decedent as to what he should do after arriving at his place of employment. The instructions given did not send the deceased upon a special errand but merely outlined what would be expected of him in performing his duties the next day.

207 P.2d at 1119.

In Wilson, as in other cases construing the "special mission", or "special errand" rule, the test applied is whether or not the employee was instructed to make the trip which resulted in his death, or whether the trip was one otherwise part of the employee's duties.

The case of Board of Education v. Industrial Commission, 102 Utah 504, 132 P.2d 381 (1942), involved a physical education instructor employed by the Logan City Board of Education. The instructor was required as a condition of his employment to serve as a member of the Logan City Recreational Council which was a joint enterprise between the school district and the city. Because of his expertise on the subject, the instructor was asked to give an address about public recreation to the Lions Club in Brigham City. He was injured in an automobile accident returning to Logan.

The Supreme Court reversed the Industrial Commission's award of benefits to the applicant on the ground that there was insufficient competent evidence that a speech such as he had made

in Brigham City was part of his required duties as an employee of the Board of Education. The Court found no evidence that his employer had required the applicant to make the speech or that the employer benefited from any service rendered there.

The case of Auerbach Co. v. Industrial Commission, 113 Utah 347, 195 P.2d 245 (1948), concerned an automobile accident which arose out of a recreational event. A department store cashier was injured while driving to a basketball game in which she was to play on a team sponsored by her employer. Despite the fact that gas for her travel was purchased by the company, and that the public relations officer for Auerbach's was in charge of the team, the Industrial Commission's award of benefits to her was reversed by the Supreme Court. The Court held that since the applicant was not hired and compensated to play sports for her employer, and since her participation on the company team was entirely voluntary, her accident did not arise out of her employment. The concurring Justices noted that although the employer obviously derived some advertising benefit from the team it did not render the injured worker's travel to the sporting event part of her employment.

The case of Martinson v. W-M Insurance Agency, 606 P.2d 256 (Utah 1980), arose from an injury sustained by an insurance executive in an automobile accident while returning to his home in Salt Lake City from a social function in Park City he claimed to have attended for business reasons. The applicant's company insured the Kimball Art Center and he drove to Park City to attend its grand opening. He stayed over night with the director

of the center who was a friend and former employer.

Affirming the Industrial Commission's denial of benefits, the Supreme Court stated that

To maintain actuarial soundness and integrity of workmen's compensation systems, it is essential that premiums be collected to cover the risks involved. The coverage does not, and as a practical matter, cannot extend to any injury done to an employee wherever and whenever it happens but is limited to accidental injuries which occur in the course of or arise out of the performance of his duties.

* * *

Reverting to the issue in this case in the light of what has just been said: the problem presented to the Commission was whether the plaintiff was actually and basically involved in the performance of his duties, or was mainly involved in a social situation with his friend and former employer, and then after he became involved in the accident, claims that he was engaged primarily in a business situation.

In justification of its conclusion, the Commission noted certain significant facts: that except for his own testimony as to the desirability of doing so, there was no evidence that the plaintiff was directed or required by his employer to go to Park City on the insurance business; and that under the facts shown, there is no reason to believe that anything that needed to be done about increased insurance could not have been done without anyone leaving the Salt Lake Office. Consequently, it recited that upon its consideration of the whole evidence, its conclusion was that the plaintiff's trip was primarily social and not within the course of his employment. (emphasis supplied)

606 P.2d at 257-258.

Again in the Martinson case, the absence of sufficient evidence that the injured employee was directed to attend an event or that any substantial business was conducted there re-

sulted in a ruling that he had failed to sustain his burden of proving his injury was related to his employment.

The plaintiffs respectfully submit that in order to affirm an award of compensation benefits for the death of an employee in an automobile accident while returning from a social event, this court must determine that the Industrial Commission has made findings supported by competent evidence that are sufficient under the principles announced in prior Utah decisions to establish its compensability. At the very least, the Commission's findings must be consistent with Larson's analysis of claims arising out of social events; it must be found that the injured employee was expressly or impliedly required to attend the event or that his attendance there was of such a direct and substantial benefit to his employer that it could fairly be said to be within the scope of his services to his employer.

Turning to the findings of fact made by the Industrial Commission through the initial order of the Administrative Law Judge and in the order denying the plaintiffs' motion for review, it is clear that they do not support the conclusion that Clifford Cheney's death arose out of or in the course of his employment. In his order awarding benefits the Administrative Law Judge lists as findings of fact in addition to those which were stipulated by the parties, that is, the occurrence of the accident and the dependency of the children of the deceased, the following:

- (1) the deceased was invited to attend the Governor's Ball by Mrs. Hatch; (R. 331)

(2) the deceased regarded his invitation as an opportunity to persuade Mrs. Hatch to publish a particular article and to discuss editorial policy; (R 332)

(3) the deceased did not have an opportunity to have the discussion with Mrs. Hatch he intended;

(4) the deceased was amply prepared to discuss work related matters had the opportunity presented itself.

In denying the plaintiffs' motion for review the two member majority of the Industrial Commission cited the following findings in support of their affirmance of the Administrative Law Judge's order:

(5) the deceased attended the function with a business purpose in mind;

(6) the invitation to attend by the employer brought the activity within the scope of his employment;

(7) the Ball was considered a business-linked event by many and the deceased attended the ball with the intent of acting as a representative of the Ogden Standard Examiner.

It is immediately apparent when the Commission's findings of fact are compared with the requirements for compensability of an accident under Utah law that the findings do not support the award made.

The Commission found that the deceased was "invited" by the president of the corporation which employed him to attend the Governor's Ball. It did not find that he was required either directly or indirectly to attend. The Commission found that no business was discussed at the event but that the deceased attended with the intention of discussing business or otherwise "representing" his business. However, the Commission did not find that the employer of the deceased actually benefited by his attendance through his performance of any business function, or through his presence in some capacity as a representative of the Standard Examiner.

The Industrial Commission's conclusions of law in this case stand in marked contrast to the decisions of this court in claims arising out of accidents which occurred as an employee was returning from an event away from the employer's premises. In each such case, this court has required a finding that the employee was actually engaging in a service to his employer at the time he was injured.

By finding simply what was conceded by all that the deceased was "invited" to attend the Governor's Ball, the Commission has concluded in effect that he was not "compelled" to attend. By finding that no business was discussed during the evening of Mr. Cheney's death, that he intended to do so but did not have the opportunity, the Commission has effectively found that no business purpose was served by his attendance at the ball and visit to the Hatch's home.

The only legal conclusion which can be drawn from the Com-

mission's own findings of fact is that the death of Clifford Cheney did not arise out of or in the course of his employment within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. (1953) Sec. 35-1-45 and the Commission's order should therefore be reversed.

POINT II

THE COMMISSION'S CONCLUSION THAT THE DECEASED'S DEATH AROSE OUT OF HIS EMPLOYMENT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Apart from a consideration of whether the Commission's findings of fact support its award, this court has jurisdiction on review to examine the record to determine whether there is substantial competent evidence to support the conclusion of the Industrial Commission that the accident in issue is compensable. The plaintiffs submit that there is no evidence in the record upon which the Commission could have made findings which would support the award.

Turning first to the question whether the deceased was expressly or impliedly required to visit Mrs. Hatch's home and attend the Governor's Ball, a test which focuses, as Larson noted, "on what the employer himself does,"¹ Larson, supra, Sec. 22.2 at p. 5-78, the evidence is not in conflict.

Mrs. Hatch's testimony about her own conduct is, in its entirety, as follows:

Q. Tell me how you came to invite Mr. Cheney, then.

A. Well, I said, "Have you ever been to a Governor's Ball?" knowing that while he lived up in Logan, they hadn't been in Salt Lake that

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